
 

 

 
Regulatory Committee 

 
Date:  Tuesday 6 July 2021 
Time:  10.30 am 
Venue:  Shire Hall 

 
Membership 
Councillor John Cooke (Chair) 
Councillor Jill Simpson-Vince (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Adrian Warwick 
Councillor Judy Falp 
Councillor Jeff Clarke 
Councillor Sarah Feeney 
Councillor Dave Humphreys 
Councillor Jack Kennaugh 
Councillor Justin Kerridge 
Councillor Jan Matecki 
Councillor Chris Mills 
Councillor Christopher Kettle 
 
Items on the agenda: -  
 

1.   General 
 

 

(1) Apologies  

 
To receive any apologies from Members of the Committee. 

 

  

(2) Disclosures of Pecuniary and Non-Pecuniary Interests 
 

 

(3) Minutes of the Previous Meeting 
 

5 - 12 

2.   Delegated Decisions 13 - 14 

  
Members are asked to note the applications dealt with under 
delegated powers since the last meeting. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



Regulatory Committee 
Tuesday 6 July 2021 

Page 2 
  

 

 
 

Planning Applications 
 

3.   Planning application RBC/20CM014 Proposed re-
grading of agricultural land, Land off Newton Road, 
Shawell, Rugby, CV23 0EB. 

15 - 52 

 Documents in relation to this application can be found via the 
following link – 
 
RBC/20CM014 
 

 

4.   Exclusion of Press and the Public  

 To consider passing the following resolution: 
 
“That members of the public be excluded from the meeting for the 
items mentioned below on the grounds that their presence would 
involve the disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraph 
3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.” 
 

 

5.   Planning Enforcement Report 
 

53 - 62 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Monica Fogarty 
Chief Executive 

Warwickshire County Council 
Shire Hall, Warwick 

 

https://planning.warwickshire.gov.uk/swiftlg/apas/run/WPHAPPCRITERIA


Regulatory Committee 
Tuesday 6 July 2021 

Page 3 
  

 

 

Disclaimers 
 

Webcasting and permission to be filmed 
Please note that this meeting will be filmed for live broadcast on the internet and can be 
viewed on line at warwickshire.public-i.tv. Generally, the public gallery is not filmed, but by 
entering the meeting room and using the public seating area you are consenting to being 
filmed. All recording will be undertaken in accordance with the Council's Standing Orders. 
 

Disclosures of Pecuniary and Non-Pecuniary Interests 
Members are required to register their disclosable pecuniary interests within 28 days of 
their election of appointment to the Council.  Any changes to matters registered or new 
matters that require to be registered must be notified to the Monitoring Officer as soon as 
practicable after they arise. 
 
A member attending a meeting where a matter arises in which they have a disclosable 
pecuniary interest must (unless they have a dispensation):  
 

• Declare the interest if they have not already registered it  
• Not participate in any discussion or vote  
• Leave the meeting room until the matter has been dealt with  
• Give written notice of any unregistered interest to the Monitoring Officer within 28 

days of the meeting  
 
Non-pecuniary interests relevant to the agenda should be declared at the commencement 
of the meeting. 
 
The public reports referred to are available on the Warwickshire Web 
https://democracy.warwickshire.gov.uk/uuCoverPage.aspx?bcr=1  
 

Public Speaking 
Any member of the public who is resident or working in Warwickshire, or who is in receipt of 
services from the Council, may speak at the meeting for up to three minutes on any matter 
within the remit of the Committee. This can be in the form of a statement or a question. If 
you wish to speak please notify Democratic Services in writing at least two working days 
before the meeting. You should give your name and address and the subject upon which 
you wish to speak. Full details of the public speaking scheme are set out in the Council’s 
Standing Orders.  
 

https://democracy.warwickshire.gov.uk/uuCoverPage.aspx?bcr=1


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Regulatory Committee 
 

Tuesday 8 June 2021  

 

Minutes 
 
Attendance 
 
Committee Members 
Councillor John Cooke (Chair) 
Councillor Jill Simpson-Vince (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Sarah Feeney 
Councillor Dave Humphreys 
Councillor Jack Kennaugh 
Councillor Justin Kerridge 
Councillor Jan Matecki 
Councillor Chris Mills 
Councillor Judy Falp 
 
Officers 
Helen Barnsley, Democratic Services Officer 
Ian Marriott, Legal Service Manager 
Sally Panayi, Senior Planning Officer 
Matthew Williams, Senior Planning Officer 
 
Others Present 
Adrian Berry, Chair, Ratley & Upton Parish Council (Item 3) 
Veronica Walters - (Item 3) 
Michael Adkins - (Item 3) 
Stephen Rice - (Item 3) 
Simon Pile on behalf of Andrew Baughan (Item 3) 
 
1. General 
 
An amendment to the membership of the Regulatory Committee as printed on the agenda for this 
meeting was made as follows. 
 
Councillor Kate Rolfe is no longer a member of this Committee.  Councillor Judy Falp is a member 
of this Committee and should have been included on the agenda. 
 
Councillor Chris Kettle is a member of the Committee replacing Councillor Rik Spencer. 
 

(1) Apologies 
 
 Apologies were received from Councillor Jeff Clarke and Councillor Adrian Warwick. 

 
 

Page 5

Page 1 of 8 Agenda Item 1(3)



 

Page 2 
Regulatory Committee 
 
08.06.21 

(2) Disclosures of Pecuniary and Non-Pecuniary Interests 
 
 In relation to Item 3 on the agenda, Planning Application SDC/20CM009 (Edgehill Quarry), 

Councillor Chris Mills confirmed that he was the local member for the area, but he had not 
discussed the matter with the Parish Council or local residents.  Councillor Mills also 
confirmed that Mr Simon Pile (applicant) was known to him. 
 
In relation to Item 6 on the agenda, Planning application WDC21CC003 (Campion School), 
Councillor Judy Falp confirmed that she is the local member for the area and that she is a 
school Governor at Campion School.  It was agreed that Councillor Falp would withdraw from 
the Committee for this item. 
 
(3) Minutes of the Previous Meeting 

 
 The minutes of the previous meeting were agreed as a true and accurate record. There were 

no matters arising. 
 

2. Delegated Decisions 
 
The Committee noted the delegated decisions made by officers since the last meeting as 
presented in the report. 
 
3. Planning Application : SDC/20CM009 - Edgehill Quarry, Edgehill 
 
Matthew Williams, Senior Planner, presented the report and provided an overview of the 
application, sharing with the Committee the phased plans for the application site. 
 
It was confirmed that the application proposed the following –  
 

 An additional 11 HGV movements per day 

 Working hours of  0800 – 1800 hours (Monday to Friday) 
0800 – 1300 hours (Saturday) 

 The restoration of the site would be largely a conservation and habitat area with the 
inclusion of an EcoPods leisure facility. 

 
The Committee noted that there had been significant public interest in the application.  Officers 
had received 36 representations in addition to those from local parish councils, and the OANB 
conservation board.  It was noted that there was some acceptance of the proposal but the 
overriding objection was from the local community and was concerned with the proposed infill and 
leisure use. 
 
The Committee was asked to consider the following factors –  
 

 The location of the waste facilities. 

 Whether the proposal would enhance the AONB 

 Could the objections be solved by the inclusion of the conditions (as attached to the report) 
 
The Committee was asked to note that the site will generate noise, but that the project has been 
designed with noise reduction in place.  Noise assessments have concluded that the noise can be 

Page 6

Page 2 of 8



 

Page 3 
Regulatory Committee 
 
08.06.21 

controlled to an acceptable level.  It was noted that there is a propose condition for noise 
monitoring moving forward should the application be approved 
 
There is a proposed dust management plan as part of the conditions. 
 
A landscaping impact assessment was submitted with the application and concluded that there 
were no significant effects on the site. Warwickshire County Council landscape team agreed and 
stated the restoration will be beneficial in the long term. 
 
Wheel washing facilities have been proposed as well as additional conditions to ensure road is 
kept clean. 
 
Following a question from Councillor Chris Mills, it was confirmed that the material being bought to 
the site will be from the local area but will depend on where new development sites are. 
 
Following a question from Councillor Jill Simpson-Vince, it was confirmed that there will be a 
vehicle movement agreement put in place which is enforceable if not complied with. There is an 
enforceable condition limiting the number of HGV movements per day (22 in total).   It was also 
confirmed that there had been no objections raised by Highways Officers in relation to the 
application. 
 
PUBLIC SPEAKING 
 
Mr. Adrian Berry, local resident, addressed the Committee in relation to the application and 
concerns from residents.  Concerns in relation to the environmental impact of the quarry were 
highlighted, including traffic, noise, dust and light pollution. 
 
Mr. Berry stated that there would be an increase in heavy traffic in the area with concerns about 
HGVs travelling through Edgehill and Ratley; irrespective of any requirements not to do so.  
Residents have low confidence in the existing signage.  
 
Ms. Veronica Walters, local resident, addressed the Committee and highlighted concerns in 
relation to the Warwickshire County Council Waste Strategy, which states that sites such as the 
proposed site, should be established on the boundaries of already established towns.  Edgehill is 
an AONB and does not conform to the requirements set out in the strategy. 
 
Ms. Walters stated that residents were concerned that HGV drivers would not follow the routes 
stated and that HGV movements, six days a week for twelve years will have an immense impact 
on the village.   
 
The Committee was asked to consider the costs likely to be faced by Warwickshire County Council 
for enforcing conditions at the site that will be broken.   
 
The Committee heard that further concerns included the quality of infill being used.  The 
Committee was asked to note that the adverse effects of dust from the site are cited in the report 
and this is a concern for residents.    This is an inappropriate development, with enduring and 
negative consequences to the lives of residents. 
 

Page 7

Page 3 of 8



 

Page 4 
Regulatory Committee 
 
08.06.21 

Mr. Michael Adkins, local resident, spoke to the Committee in relation to concerns about the 
proposed application, stating that he strongly opposes what is an ill-advised application for the 
area.  The Committee noted that Mr. Adkins stated that in the past there had been excessive noise 
nuisance from the site that only stopped with intervention from Warwickshire County Council. 
 
Mr. Adkins stated that the biggest threat to the village would be the dust from the site, with no 
guarantee that it will not contain any harmful substances. 
 
Mr. Stephen Rice, on behalf of the applicant, spoke to the Committee in order to address some of 
the concerns raised during the meetings.  Mr. Rice confirmed that the routing agreement, as part 
of the conditions of the application, will not allow any vehicles to pass through the village.  It is 
made categorically clear to all HGV drivers that this condition is enforceable and that it will be.  
The Committee was asked to note that residents have been asked to provide photographs of 
HGVs coming through the village but that no evidence has so far been submitted to support the 
claims. 
 
With reference to the concerns about the materials being bought onto the site, Mr. Rice stated that 
it was clear that every site similar to the proposed application site, is regulated by the council and 
the Environment Agency.  The material on site will not include asbestos or other hazardous 
material.  The owner of the site will not allow this to happen. 
 
Mr. Rice continued by stating that the advantages of the development will benefit the locals with 
footpaths created through the site to link to other sites in the area that are currently only accessible 
via roads with no pavements. 
 
Mr. Simon Pile, on behalf of the applicant, confirmed to the Committee that there had only been 
one complaint made against the site in the last five years (in 2017).  There have been no other 
complaints in relation to noise, dust or traffic. 
 
Mr. Pile continued by noting that the site will require a permit from the Environment Agency before 
it can be operational – this will ensure that processes in place do not have an adverse 
environmental impact; any breaches are enforceable by criminal prosecution. 
 
DEBATE 
 
Councillor Jill Simpson-Vince questioned if the work on site could be finished ahead of the 
proposed 12 years.  In addition, Councillor Simpson-Vince asked if the proposed working hours on 
a Saturday could be removed.  As the application stands, the 22 HGV movements could apply on 
a Saturday even with a proposed reduction in working hours. 
 
Councillor Chris Mills raised a concern in relation to the EcoPods.  Work is planned to start in five 
years on the glamping pods, but the site would not be complete for 12 years – would glampers 
want to use the site while work is ongoing?  Councillor Mills also raised concerns in relation to the 
disturbance to local wildlife; questioning that although the finished site would perhaps attract 
wildlife, there would undoubtably be an impact during the 12 years’ work. 
 
Councillor Jan Matecki raised concerns in relation to the recycling facilities and whether the benefit 
of the site would outweigh the impact on loses such as the AONB. 
 

Page 8

Page 4 of 8



 

Page 5 
Regulatory Committee 
 
08.06.21 

Councillor Kerridge also raised concerns about the Saturday working hours stating that they 
should be restricted.  The area is an AONB and normal standards should not necessarily apply.  
The site is close to a community and that must be considered.  The current activity is scheduled to 
cease later this year – this application would allow it to continue for an additional 12 years.  Peace 
and quiet is appropriate in an AONB.  HGV traffic, however little or managed, is inappropriate in 
this area. 
 
Councillor Judy Falp supported the proposed removal of Saturday working hours but reminded the 
Committee that refusal of the application must be made on strong planning grounds. 
 
Councillor Simpson-Vince asked the officer what would happen if the Committee did refuse the 
application.  Matthew Williams confirmed that minimal restoration would still be required.   
 
Following the questions and points of debate, Matthew Williams confirmed that the hours of 
operation could be reviewed, to consider the Committee’s points about Saturday working.  
Councillor Matecki responded by asking that if the Saturday hours were removed, would this mean 
that the project would need to be extended beyond the proposed 12 years?  Simon Pile, applicant, 
was able to confirm that the transport assessment did not consider 22 HGV movements on a 
Saturday.  Development sites, where the material would be coming from, do not work on Saturday. 
Loosing Saturday working hours would mean that the site operators would lose time dealing with 
the material on site and not bring material into the site. 
 
An amended recommendation was proposed by Councillor Jan Matecki to reject the application on 
the grounds that the recycling facility on its’ own would not be acceptable in the location.  The 
amended recommendation was seconded by Councillor Chris Mills.  
 
A vote was held, and there were 4 votes for the amended recommendation, and five votes against.  
Therefore, the amended recommendation was rejected by the Committee. 
 
Councillor Jill Simpson-Vince proposed the original recommendation, with the addition of a 
condition to remove Saturday working hours.  Councillor Judy Falp seconded the proposal. 
 
A vote was held and there were 4 votes in favour of the application (with the removal of Saturday 
working).  There were two votes against the proposal and two abstentions. 
 
Therefore, the recommendation was approved by the Committee with the agreement to remove 
the Saturday working hours. 
 
Resolved 
 
That the Regulatory Committee authorises the grant of planning permission for the Infilling of 
Redundant Quarry with Inert Soils and Clays to include Temporary Soils and Aggregates 
Recycling and Recovery Facility and Restoration of the Quarry to provide 10 No. Recreational 
EcoPods subject to a legal agreement controlling vehicle routing and to the conditions and for the 
reasons contained within Appendix B of the report of the Strategic Director for Communities; with 
the addition of the removal of Saturday working hours. 
 
4. Planning Application : NBB/21CC004 
 

Page 9

Page 5 of 8



 

Page 6 
Regulatory Committee 
 
08.06.21 

Matthew Williams, Senior Planner, presented the report to the Committee, confirming that moving 
forward the site would be known as The Warwickshire Academy.  The proposed development 
would include a SEND school with a boundary fence, parking and sports pitches.  Photographs 
shown to the Committee confirmed the location of the site and the proposed development site.  
The school will be for pupils who have significant challenges. 
 
The Committee noted that the provision of the school in this area would mean that SEND pupils 
would no longer have to go out of the area to attend school. 
 
The Committee noted that the main issue in relation to the application was the traffic management 
and the proximity to Exhall Grange School.  It was confirmed that Highways had added conditions 
to the application in relation to traffic management.  In relation to parking, it was noted that the site 
will include drop off spaces.  Pupils are likely to arrive individually at the school and there is a 
possibility for multiple vehicles to arrive at the same time; provision has been made for this. 
 
The Committee noted that the application is for the positive reuse of a school that has not been 
used for some time.  There are conditions proposed for traffic and boundary management. 
 
The recommendation was proposed by Councillor Jill Simpson-Vince and was seconded by 
Councillor Chris Mills.  A vote was held, and the Committee voted unanimously in favour of the 
recommendation. 
 
Resolved 
 
That the Regulatory Committee authorises the grant of planning permission for conversion and 
adaptation of existing premises to include external works, to form New Special Educational Needs 
and Disability School, to include new boundary fence, introduction of new parking and provision of 
external unlit sports pitches at the former Pears RNIB Site (renamed The Warwickshire Academy) 
subject to the conditions and for the reasons contained within Appendix B of the report of the 
Strategic Director for Communities. 
 
5. Planning Application WDC/21CC002 - Proposed installation of replacement Air Handling 

Unit and associated ductwork and extension to screen cladding at Milverton School, 
Greatheed Road, Leamington Spa, CV32 6ES. 

 
Sally Panayi, Senior Planner, presented the report to the Committee confirming that the proposal 
was for the replacement of an Air handling unit and an extension to screen cladding.   
 
The Committee noted that in February 2019, emergency insultation was fitted to school kitchen to 
allow the school to remain open.  The installation led to complaints from local residents due to 
visual impact.  It was confirmed that the previous application was to improve the installation.  This 
application is for a further installation and cladding. 
 
The Committee noted that the application was supported by a noise impact assessment and an 
odour assessment.  
 
The recommendation was proposed by Councillor Jill Simpson-Vince and was seconded by 
Councillor Jan Matecki.  A vote was held, and the Committee voted unanimously in favour of the 
recommendation. 

Page 10

Page 6 of 8



 

Page 7 
Regulatory Committee 
 
08.06.21 

 
Resolved 
 
That the Regulatory Committee authorises the grant of planning permission for the installation of a 
replacement Air Handling Unit (AHU) with associated ductwork and extension to screen cladding 
subject to the conditions and for the reasons contained within Appendix B of the report of the 
Strategic Director for Communities 
 
6. Planning application WDC21CC003 Erection of a two-storey Sixth Form Centre, re-

cladding and re-roofing of existing sports hall, provision of a new MUGA and other 
enabling works at Campion School, Sydenham Drive, Leamington Spa, CV31 1QH 

 
Councillor Judy Falp left the meeting due to her interest in this item. 
 
Sally Panayi, Senior Planner, presented the application to the Committee confirming that it is for a 
6th form building, MUGA and the refurbishment of the current sports hall.  It was noted that 
residential development in the local area has increased pupil numbers. 
 
This proposal is for phase two to allow for the predicted continued increase in pupil numbers.  
Details of the proposed application were shared with the committee, including floor plans and 
external views 
 
The following points were noted by the Committee –  
 

 Alterations have been agreed in principle by Highways and there are no objections from 
Highways Authority subject to attached conditions, 

 

 There is a recommended condition in relation to the pinch point within the access road – 
there is a need for it to be widened before the 6th form is completed.  This has been 
completed already so the condition can now be removed. 

 

 In relation to ecology; the Committee learnt that 11 trees will need to be removed but that 
they are to be replaced by 28 additional tress of varying species.   
 

 There have been no objections from residents. 
 

 The boundaries will be screened by vegetation. 
 

 There are conditions attached to the application to control the level of noise and lighting. 
 

The recommendation was proposed by Councillor Jill Simpson-Vince and was seconded by 
Councillor Chris Mills.  A vote was held, and the Committee voted unanimously in favour of the 
recommendation 
 
Resolved 
 
That the Regulatory Committee authorises the grant of planning permission for the erection of a 
two storey Sixth Form Centre, re-cladding and re-roofing of the existing Sports Hall, provision for a 

Page 11

Page 7 of 8



 

Page 8 
Regulatory Committee 
 
08.06.21 

new MUGA and other enabling works subject to the conditions and for the reasons contained 
within Appendix B of the report of the Strategic Director for Communities. 
 
7. Discharge of Condition for Planning application NWB/19CC006 High Meadow School, 

Coleshill - 4 classroom extension - Green Travel Plan 
 
Sally Panayi, Senior Planner provided an update to the Committee in relation to the discharge of 
conditions on a previous application approved by the Committee.   
 
The application was in relation to High Meadow School in Coleshill.  Previous members of the 
Committee felt that due to the nature of the application that they should be involved in the approval 
of the green travel plan. 
 
Highways agreed that it was now acceptable to discharge the condition in relation to the green 
travel plan; but added that it will need to be reviewed and updated once pupils are in the 
classroom.  The Committee noted that this requirement is a normal part of a green travel plan. 
 
The recommendation was proposed by Councillor Jill Simpson-Vince and was seconded by 
Councillor Jack Kennaugh. A vote was held, and the Committee voted unanimously in favour of 
the recommendation. 
 
The Committee took the opportunity to wish the pupils all the best in their new classrooms. 
 
Resolved 
 
That the Regulatory Committee authorises the discharge of Condition 13 of planning consent 
NWB/19CC006 for a Green Travel Plan. 
 
8. Any Other Business 
 
The Chair wished his thanks to be placed on record to the planning officers, other officers and the 
broadcasting team who all helped the meeting to run smoothly in unusual circumstances. 
 
 

Page 12

Page 8 of 8



 

 
 

Regulatory Committee – 6 July 2021 
 

Applications Dealt with Under Delegated Powers between  
28th May 2021 – 6 July 2021 

 
Recommendation 
 
That the Regulatory Committee notes the content of the report 
 
Delegated Powers 
 

C. APPLICATIONS DEALT WITH UNDER DELEGATED POWERS BETWEEN  
28th May 2021 – 6 July 2021 

Application reference 
& valid date  
electoral division 
case officer 

Site location & proposal Decision date 

 
SDC/21CC001 
 
Stratford-upon-Avon 
 
 

 
7 , Manor Road, Stratford-Upon-Avon, CV37 7EA 
 
Proposed change of use to a care home for children, 
to accommodate 4 residents, associated works, 
conversion of garage to a games room, provision of 
additional parking. 
 

 
Approval 

10/06/2021 

 
NWB/21CM003 
 
Coleshill 
 

 

 
Coleshill Food Waste Anaerobic Digestion Plant, 
Marconi Way, Coleshill, B46 1DG  
 
Variation of condition 2 (approved documents and 
plans) of planning consent NWB/13CM021, and 
removal of condition 4 (landscaping) and condition 5 
(flood compensation),  
 

 
Approval 

28/06/2021 

 

Page 13

Page 1 of 1 Agenda Item 2



This page is intentionally left blank



Regulatory Committee – 6 July 2021 

 
Re-grading of agricultural land, at land off Newton 

Lane, Coton Park Farm, Rugby,  
Warwickshire, CV23 0TB 

 
RBC/20CM014 

 
 
Application No.: RBC/20CM014 
  
Advertised date: 17 December 2020 
  
Applicants: Selwyn and Emma Rees, 

Coton Park Farm 
Newton Lane 
Shawell 
Rugby 
CV23 0EB 

  
Agent: Mr Robert Gandy 

Enzygo Ltd 
Samuel House 
5, Fox Valley Way 
Sheffield 
S36 2AA 

  
Registered by: The Strategic Director for Communities on 04 December 

2020 
  
Proposal: Re-grading of agricultural land, at land off Newton Lane, 

Rugby, Warwickshire, CV23 0TB 
  
Site & location: Coton Farm, Newton Lane, Rugby, CV23 0EB. 

[Grid ref: 452998.279751]. 
 
See plan in Appendix A 

 
Recommendation 
 
That the Regulatory Committee authorises the grant of planning permission 
for the re-grading of agricultural land on land off Newton Lane, Rugby subject 
to the conditions and for the reasons contained within Appendix B of the 
report of the Strategic Director for Communities. 
 

 

Page 15

Page 1 of 27 Agenda Item 3



1. Application details 
 
1.1 The planning application seeks consent for the re-grading of 

agricultural land at Coton Farm. The proposed operation would import 
certified topsoil onto the site to re-grade the currently steeply sloping 
field to create a relatively flat finished surface level which would enable 
more productive use of the site for agriculture. 
 

1.2 A topographical survey and detailed cross sections submitted with the 
application inform that the maximum void to re-grade to a more 
horizontal level would require 91,395 cubic metres or 136,410 tonnes 
of topsoil. 

 
1.3 It is proposed that topsoil would be imported to the application site from 

a storage yard at The Fisheries located approximately 1.7 km to the 
southeast, on the A5. Vehicles would travel via Watling Street A5 north 
from The Fisheries, turning left into Newton Lane and then right into the 
application site.  

 
1.4 The Planning Statement supporting the application advises that using a 

20-tonne load capacity vehicle (calculating that 1 tonne of topsoil 
equates to 0.67 cubic metres), the required volume of topsoil to 
complete the proposed re-grading would require approximately 6,821 
vehicle trips. Working Monday to Friday, with on average 13 deliveries 
per day or 26 2-way trips, the import of soil would require a period of 
two years (104 weeks) to complete the proposed re-grading. 

 
1.5 Access into the application site would be from Newton Lane using an 

existing field entrance that has not been in use for a period of years 
and become overgrown. 
 

1.6 The access to the site would be increased to 5.5 m in width, to allow for 
two HGVs to pass. The access would be secured by a gate set back 15 
m from the highway to ensure a 20-tonne tipper truck would not block 
Newton Lane if the gates to the site were closed. 
 

1.7 A site compound would be constructed at the entrance to the site. The 
application proposes an area of hardcore to be laid to provide for 
vehicle parking, wheel wash facility and a site for the installation of a 
cabin to provide mess and welfare facilities. The cabin would be a 
temporary mobile structure that would not require a water supply or a 
drainage connection. 
 

1.8 A turning area would be provided on site to allow vehicles to both enter 
and leave the site in a forward gear. 
 

1.9 Existing vegetation on site would be removed and exported to a 
suitable licenced facility for composting. Existing topsoil on the 
application site would be excavated and stockpiled for re-use. 
 

Page 16

Page 2 of 27



1.10 The landfill /landraising works would commence at the south-western 
area of the application site, furthest from the entrance, with infilling 
progressing towards the site entrance. The final area of filling would be 
the site compound area. The method of working would be for soils to 
be delivered to the site by 20-tonne tipper lorries, end tipped from the 
vehicles and the soils placed in graded layers on site by a bulldozer. 
Layers would be compacted by a smooth roller towed by the bulldozer 
to provide a compact surface to allow lorry traffic across the surface. 
The planning statement advises that the compacted surface would also 
allow soils to shed excess water during periods of wet weather to 
prevent softening of soils. 
 

1.11 Vehicles exiting the site would use the wheel wash facility to prevent 
mud being deposited on the road. A road sweeper would be in use in 
the event of there being mud on the road. 
 

1.12 On completion of the re-grading works, an excavator with a grading 
bucket would be used to create the final landform. Finally, the top 
surface would ripped to remove excess compaction to create a suitable 
soil structure for agriculture. 
 

2. Consultation 
 
2.1 Rugby Borough Council – Planning: No objection.  

Subject to the proposals not having an adverse impact on archaeology 
or protected species Rugby Borough Council has no planning 
objections to the proposals. The impact on visual amenity must also be 
taken into consideration. 

 
2.2 Rugby Borough Council – Environmental Health: No objection to 

this proposed development subject to the following conditions being 
attached to any decision notice, should approval be granted. 

I note that the proposal is for the importation of certified topsoil onto 
site and to improve drainage. The closest residential receptor is the 
dwelling to the east, which is located to the south of the Tripontium 
commercial/industrial units. 

I have recommended conditions relating to hours, reversing alarms and 
a Construction Method Statement (CMS). This last is because the 
submitted CMS is in draft form. If a ‘final’ version is provided prior to 
determination of this application I would consider amending my 
recommendations. 

Planning Officer update: A finalised version of the CMS was 
submitted to state the standard hours of operation recommended by 
RBC EHO. A condition is recommended for the standard hours of 
operation and for development in accordance with the submitted final 
version of the Construction Management Plan. 

Page 17

Page 3 of 27



2.3 Churchover Parish Council: Object. 
 Having reviewed the new Planning Statement and the other documents 

(on WCC’s website) we have several concerns: -  
• It says that the soil is in storage currently, 1.7km down the A5. There 
is no explanation of what it is doing there, where it came from, when it 
arrived, and what condition it is in.  
• If it is legally deposited where it is, does it have a waste licence and 
planning permission?  
• If it does have permission to be where it is, it will also need a 
permission to dig it up and another permission to deposit it at Newton 
Lane. Does it have permission to dig it up? This application only covers 
placing it at Newton Lane, not lifting it from elsewhere.  
• Looking at the field over which it is proposed to (re-)spread it, there 
seems to be nothing to suggest the field needs agricultural 
improvement. It has been farmed for many years, we suspect, without 
needing any improvement of this nature.  
• The Statement repeatedly refers to “Certified Topsoil “: this begs 
these important questions:  
- 1. Is their evidence that the Environment Agency agrees with the 
certification?  
2. If so, when did they do so?  
3. What has happened to the soil since it was certified?  
4. What does such “certification” cover?  
5. Does certification preclude it being chemically or physically 
contaminated?  
• Assuming that the topsoil is actually good quality, what will be the 
Agricultural Land Classification grading of the receptor site on 
completion?  
• Also, if it is actually good quality then tipping at as much as 6-7m 
thickness is a waste of a valuable resource.  
• In what way will compacting it (as stated) improve drainage?  
• Transporting, placing, compacting and remediating 91,350m3 of soil 
is an expensive process. The site is a gross area of ~3ha. Even if it 
cost only £1/m3 to undertake the work (and double that would be more 
likely) on what basis is expending ~£30,000/ha on land that, when 
filling is completed, might be worth only 10% of that, a sensible 
investment?  
The economics and background to this proposal are obscure. Although 
those are not necessarily material planning considerations, it is material 
that the environment harm arising from and development is only 
incurred for a realistic development, whatever the ultimate gain.  
In this instance, is something hidden in the background and is not 
being disclosed. For example, landfill tax on inert waste is £3/tonne, 
over £400,000 in this case, plus landfill charges and transport. Is this 
planning application being made in order to avoid landfill tax? We 
therefore conclude that this application should be refused. 
 
 
 

Page 18

Page 4 of 27



2.4 Newton & Biggin Parish Council: No objection in principle subject to 
the following: 

 The site lies within Churchover Parish but is immediately adjacent to 
the Newton and Biggin boundary. Nearby neighbours of the site live in 
Newton Parish and Newton is the nearest settlement.  

 
The Parish Council is satisfied that the agricultural quality of the 
application site would be improved by the importation of topsoil, 
although it is questionable whether this needs to be 7m in depth. 
 

 It is concerning that the application is so tightly linked to the Reilly site 
which has operated outside of its planning permission for many years, 
something that Warwickshire County Council (WCC) has not been 
prepared to enforce. The removal of substantial amounts of material 
from the Reilly site is to be welcomed although it might be suggested 
that utilising the material for agricultural purposes and thus avoiding 
landfill tax is the real driver behind the application.  

 
The Parish Council is not able to determine whether there is 150,000 
tons of clean, certified topsoil on the Reilly site. It is important that 
WCC satisfies itself on this as the importation of general spoil from the 
Reilly site or the need to obtain topsoil from another source both lie 
outside the scope of the current application.  
 
The Parish Council is also concerned that the failure of WCC, over 
many years, to control operations on the Reilly site suggests that there 
will be no effective control over the current application site should it not 
adhere to any planning permission that might be granted.  
 
So, subject to WCC confirming that:  
a) the proposals are legitimately and proportionately in the interests of 
agriculture;  
b) that there is sufficient clean, certified topsoil on the Reilly site; and  
c) that the development will be monitored and any necessary action 
taken.  
The Parish Council raises no objection to the principle of the 
development, subject to the following conditions:  
 
1. No start shall be made on the application site until WCC has 
confirmed that all outstanding breaches of planning control on the 
Reilly site, from which the topsoil is to be sourced, have been resolved. 
(Reason - in the interest of the proper planning of the area);  
 
2. No material shall be imported onto the application site other than 
topsoil, independently certified as clean, from the Reilly site. (Reason - 
in the interests of agriculture and sustainability);  
 
3. Before development commences, a Traffic Management Plan shall 
be submitted to and approved by WCC indicating the routes to be 
taken by all vehicles servicing the development and such plan shall 

Page 19

Page 5 of 27



explicitly preclude any vehicle movements through the village of 
Newton. (Reason - in the interest of highway safety and amenity);  
 
4. All vehicles bringing material to the site shall be securely sheeted. 
(Reason - in the interest of highway safety and amenity);  
 
5. The development shall not be carried out other than between the 
hours of 08.00 and 17.00 on Monday to Friday and not at all on Bank 
Holidays. (Reason - in the interests of the amenity of the area);  
 
6. Before development commences measures designed to prevent dust 
spreading beyond the confines of the site shall be submitted to and 
approved by WCC. (Reason - in the interests of the amenity of the 
area);  
 
7. Before development commences details of measures to be taken to 
prevent any mud being deposited on Newton Lane and neighbouring 
highways, including on site wheel washing facilities, shall be submitted 
to and approved by WCC. (Reason - in the interests of highway safety); 
and  
 
8. Any audible reversing warnings fitted to vehicles shall be disabled or 
suppressed at all such times that vehicles are on the site. (Reason - in 
the interest of the amenity of nearby residents). 

 
2.5 Councillor Adrian Warwick: No comments received by 24 June 2021. 
 
2.6 WCC Flood Risk and Water Management: No objection subject to a 

condition for the development to comply with the approved drainage 
documents. 

 
2.7 WCC Highways: No objection subject to conditions: 

 the re-modelling of the access in accordance with submitted 
drawing;  

 bound surface for access road within 15 m of public highway; 
visibility splays;  

 provision of an HGV turning area within the site; 

 development in accordance with the Construction Method 
Statement, and 

 routing of HGVs connected with the development arriving and 
departing the site in accordance with the details in the Transport 
Statement. 

 
2.8 WCC Archaeology: No archaeological comments to make on this 

application. 
 
2.9 WCC Ecology: A Biodiversity Impact Assessment was requested by 

Ecology to assess the ecoligical impact of the proposed works. In 
addition, an up to date Habitat Suitablility Index (HSI) was required to 

Page 20

Page 6 of 27



determine the suitablilty for Great Crested Newts (GCN) of the site and 
the land between the site and the pond to the west. 

 
 In January 2021 the revised Ecological Impact Assessment (EcIA) 

prepared by Enzygo was submitted to assess the ecological impact of 
the proposed works. In response, Ecology rasied no objection to the 
development subject to planning conditions for a Landscape and 
Ecological Management Plan (LEMP) to ensure a net biodiversity gain 
in accordance with the BIA; a Construction and Environmental 
Management Plan (CEMP) requiring a Great Crested Newt mitigation 
plan, pre-checks for reptiles, mitigation measures for badger and for 
the control of lighting. In addition a condition to protect the adjacent 
watercourse, a root protection area condition and a pre-development 
badger check condition are recommended. Notes relating to reptiles as 
protected species should be attached to any permission granted.  

 
2.10 Highways England: No objection subject to recommended conditions. 

 
It is noted that the land to be re-graded is located away from the 
Strategic Road Network (SRN). However, the tipper trucks carrying out 
the work will be moving back and forth between the site and the works 
compound. This will involve large, slow moving vehicles turning at the 
A5 / Newton Road junction and travelling along the A5. The supporting 
information states that ‘Observations confirm that visibility of 215 
metres could be achieved in both directions, taken from a 2.4 metres 
setback distance at the junction in line with the sign posted speed limit.’ 
However, there is a risk that visibility between drivers travelling north 
on the A5 and vehicles approaching the junction on Newton Lane can 
be partially restricted by vegetation on the A5 verge. Given that the 
proposal includes increased numbers of larger vehicles turning at the 
junction we would like to see vegetation clearing included on the 
southern side of the junction. This would improve safety for drivers 
turning at the junction and drivers proceeding on the A5.  
Our other concern is the potential for the tipper trucks to drop soil from 
either their load or their tyres onto the A5.  
 
The proposed works should therefore include measures to mitigate 
against that occurring.  
 
Condition 1: The minimum required visibility distance of 215m in both 
directions at the A5 / Newton Lane junction should be maintained at all 
times, throughout the duration of the works. Vegetation clearance 
should be carried out when required in order to ensure that this can be 
achieved.  
 
Condition 2; No soil or deleterious material should be deposited on the 
SRN by vehicles associated with the regrading works.  
 
Reason for conditions To ensure that the A5 continues to serve its 
purpose as part of a national system of routes for through traffic in 

Page 21

Page 7 of 27



accordance with Section 10 (2) of the Highways Act 1980 by 
minimising disruption on the SRN resulting from the works and in the 
interests of road safety. 
 
Revised wording of the visibility condition was subsequently agreed 
with Highways England. 

 
2.11 Environment Agency: According to our maps this site lies within 

Flood Zone 1 and therefore we have no comment to make on this 
proposal. 
 
The proposed activities may require an Environmental Permit or 
Exemption from us under the Environmental Permitting (England and 
Wales) Regulations 2016. Any pollution prevention measures in 
relation to the proposed activity would be enforced via this permit. 
There is no guarantee that a permit will be granted. 

 
  The applicant / developer should contact the Environment Agency on 

03708 506 506 for a pre-application discussion to determine whether a 
permit is required. Further information regarding the need, and 
applying, for an Environmental Permit can be found on our website: 
https://www.gov.uk/topic/environmental-management/environmental-
permits. 

 
2.12  Historic England: No comments received. 
 
2.13 Leicestershire County Council Highways: The proposals would lead 

to 26 two-way daily movements for a temporary period of 2 years, and 
the routing strategy does not utilise the highway network within 
Leicestershire County or the Gibbet Hill roundabout. Therefore, it is not 
considered to represent a material impact on the operation of the 
highway network within Leicestershire County. Subsequently it is 
deferred to Highways England and WCC to consider the remaining 
impact on the highway network. 

 
2.14 Leicestershire County Council Planning: No comments received. 
 
2.15 Harborough District Council: No comments received. 
 
2.16 A site notice was displayed on a field gate on the western side of 

Newton Lane, opposite the entrance to the residential property ‘The 
Three Bridges’ and a second site notice displayed on the timber 
fencing at the south-eastern boundary of the application site on 17 
December 2020. 

 
2.17 A press notice was published in the Rugby Advertiser and notification 

letters were sent to 16 nearest residential properties on 17 December 
2020  

 
 

Page 22

Page 8 of 27



3. Representations 
 
3.1 An objection received from a neighbouring resident making the 

following comments: 
 
 Highways/Traffic: 
 

 With 26 trucks coming down Newton Lane each day is just obscene, 
the amount of vibration that will come through to our house will just be 
horrendous, our whole house already shakes when 1 tractor goes 
down the lane It would be unbearable with this many trucks. 
 

 Newton lane is muddy at the best of times, and has very poor drainage 
which causes a lot of standing water on the lane could you imagine 
what it would be like with these trucks coming in and out with the 
amount of top-soil they will be carrying it would be very dangerous, 
Alongside this the lane is very small and with the new development of 
Ellis Gardens down the road, the lane has got busier and busier and 
these are mainly new families that are using the lane to get to the 
village this will create more chaos and be more unsafe then it already 
is. 

 
Noise: 

 

 The noise pollution that will come of the trucks will also be awful we 
would not be able to enjoy our house with these trucks going up and 
down the lane.  
 
Visual Impact: 
 

 As our house sits in quite low grounds we would be able to see the 
trucks go from our house all the way up to the farm and it will be a 
terrible eye sore. 

 
Dust/Air pollution: 
 

 We are concerned with the amount of air/dust pollution that will come of 
these trucks and as we live so close to the farm, we know it will have a 
severe impact on our health. 
 

4. Previous Planning History 
 
4.1 There is no planning history for the application site. 
 
4.2  The applicant describes that the field was excavated for sand and 

gravel during the late 1950s. 
 
 
 
 

Page 23

Page 9 of 27



5. Assessment and Observations 
 
 Location and Site Description 
 
5.1 The application site is a 3-hectare field located to the west of Newton 

Lane, some 5 km to the north-east of the centre of Rugby. The field is 
1.5 km north of the village of Newton, 2 km to the east of the village of 
Churchover and 1.5 km to the west of the village of Shawell, over the 
County border in Leicestershire. 

 
5.2  The scheduled monument of the Tripontium Roman station is located 

some 350 m to the east of the application site close to the route of the 
Roman road, Watling Street (A5).  

 
5.3 The nearest residential property is located approximately 125 m to the 

north-east of the application site and appears on maps as The 
Homestead but has been renamed The Three Bridges. 

 
5.4 The fields to the west and south of the application site are within the 

control of the applicant as part of Coton Farm and are in agricultural 
use, currently for raising poultry / game birds. 

 
5.5 In the south-western corner of the application site is a derelict brick 

building. The building would not be removed or impacted as a result of 
the proposed land-raising.  

 
5.6 Ground levels on the field slope down towards the north. The northern 

boundary of the site is marked by an unnamed line of drainage with 
Newton Spinney, an area of mature woodland beyond. The eastern 
boundary of the application site is marked by a mixed species 
hedgerow running the length of Newton Lane. 

 
5.7 At the time of the Officer’s first site visit in December 2020, a quantity 

of soil and subsoil had been piled along the western boundary of the 
site. The applicant explained that the material had been derived from 
the excavated footings of building work under construction at the Coton 
Farm farmhouse, 200 m to the south. The excavated material would be 
used as part of the infill material should the application be granted 
planning consent. 

 
 Planning Legislation and Policy 
  
5.8 Section 38(6) of the 2004 Planning and Compensation Act requires 

that planning applications are determined in accordance with the 
provisions of the Development Plan ‘unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise’. 

 
5.9 Paragraph 11 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

February 2019 explains that there is a presumption in favour of 

Page 24

Page 10 of 27



sustainable development and what that means.  What the presumption 
means in relation to a planning application is that: 

(a) proposals which accord with an up-to-date development plan should 
be approved without delay; and 

(b) where there are no relevant development plan policies or the 
policies most important for determining the application are out-of-date, 
then permission should be granted unless: 

● the application of policies in the Framework that protect areas or 
assets of particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the 
development proposed or 

● any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the 
policies in this Framework taken as a whole. 

Where the presumption in (b) applies, it is often referred to as the “tilted 
balance” in favour of the application. 

5.10 Paragraph 12 goes on to explain that the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development does not change the statutory status of the 
development plan as the starting point for decision making.  Where a 
planning application conflicts with an up-to-date development plan 
(including any neighbourhood plans that form part of the development 
plan), permission should not usually be granted.  Local planning 
authorities may take decisions that depart from an up-to-date 
development plan, but only if material considerations in a particular 
case indicate that the plan should not be followed. 

5.11 Paragraph 48 explains that authorities may give weight to relevant 
policies in emerging development plans according to: a) the stage of 
preparation of the emerging plan; b) the extent to which there are 
unresolved objections to relevant policies; and c) the degree of 
consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan to this 
Framework 

5.12  In this case, there is an up to date development plan comprising the   
Warwickshire Waste Core Strategy, Adopted Local Plan (2013 – 2028) 
and the Rugby Borough Council Local Plan 2011 – 2031 (Adopted 
June 2019).  Therefore, the application should be determined (as 
required by Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004) in accordance with those policies unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.   

 
5.13 The courts have made it clear that for the purposes of section 38(6) it is 

enough that the proposal accords with the development plan 
considered as a whole.  It does not have to accord with each and every 
policy in the plan.  It is a matter of judgement for your Committee 

Page 25

Page 11 of 27



whether the proposal accords with the plan, considered as a whole, 
bearing in mind such factors as the importance of the policies which 
are complied with or infringed, and the extent of compliance or breach. 

 
 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
 
5.14 Paragraph 109 states that development should only be prevented or 

refused on highway grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact 
on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road 
network would be severe. 

 
5.15 Paragraph 163 states that determining any planning application, local 

planning authorities should ensure that flood risk is not increased 
elsewhere. 

 
5.16 Chapter 15 of the NPPF relates to conserving and enhancing the 

natural environment, requiring that planning decisions should 
contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by means 
including ensuring they minimise impacts on and provide net gains for 
biodiversity and prevent new and existing development from 
contributing to unacceptable levels of soil, air, water or noise pollution 
or land instability. 

 
5.17 Paragraph 183 states that the focus of planning policies and decisions 

should be on whether proposed development is an acceptable use of 
land, rather than the control of processes or emissions (where these 
are subject to separate pollution control regimes). Planning decisions 
should assume that these regimes will operate effectively. Equally, 
where a planning decision has been made on a particular 
development, the planning issues should not be revisited through the 
permitting regimes operated by pollution control authorities. 

 
 National Planning Policy for Waste (NPPW) 
 
5.18 Regulation 18 of the Waste (England and Wales) Regulations 2011 

requires that planning authorities shall have regard to certain provisions 
in Articles 13 and 16 of the EU Waste Framework Directive when 
exercising their planning functions. This requirement continues to apply 
notwithstanding the departure of the United Kingdom from the 
European Union. Article 13 concerns the protection of human health 
and the environment. Article 16 sets the objective of establishing an 
adequate and integrated network of installations which enable waste to 
be disposed of or recovered in one of the nearest appropriate 
installations, by means of one of the most appropriate methods and 
technologies, to ensure high level of protection for the environment and 
public health. 

 
5.19 To help deliver these objectives, the Government published the 

National Planning Policy Waste (NPPW) in 2014 to be read in 
conjunction with the NPPF and the Waste Management Plan for 

Page 26

Page 12 of 27



England. Its Introduction explains that it is the Government’s ambition 
to work towards a more sustainable and efficient approach to resource 
use and management and that positive planning has a pivotal role in 
delivering these ambitions.  

 
5.20 The NPPW requires that in determining planning applications waste 

planning authorities should: 
 

• only expect applicants to demonstrate the quantitative or market 
need for new or enhanced waste management facilities where 
proposals are not consistent with an up-to-date local plan; 

 
• consider the likely impact on the local environment and on amenity 

against the criteria set out in Appendix B of the NPPW and the 
locational implications of any advice on health from the relevant 
health bodies; 

 
• ensure that waste management facilities in themselves are well-

designed, so that they contribute positively to the character and 
quality of the area in which they are located; 

 
• concern themselves with implementing the planning strategy in the 

local plan and not with the control of processes which are a matter 
for the pollution control authorities; 

 
• ensure that land raising or landfill sites are restored to beneficial 

after uses at the earliest opportunity and to high environmental 
standards through the application of appropriate conditions where 
necessary. 

 
The criteria in Appendix B of the NPPW are: 
  
a) protection of water quality and resources and flood risk management 
b) land instability 
c) landscape and visual impacts 
d) nature conservation 
e) conserving the historic environment 
f) traffic and access 
g) air emissions, including dust 
h)  odours 
i) vermin and birds 
j) noise, light and vibration 
k) litter 
l) potential land use conflict 

 
5.21 Regulation 20(1) of The Waste (England and Wales) Regulations 2011 

states that a planning authority must not grant planning permission for 
a landfill unless it has taken into consideration certain requirements in 
Annex I of the EU Landfill Directive. The requirements include a 

Page 27

Page 13 of 27



requirement that the location of a landfill must take into consideration 
requirements relating to: 

 
a) the distances from the boundary of the site to residential and 

recreation areas, waterways, water bodies, and other agricultural 
or urban sites 

b)  the existence of groundwater, coastal water or nature protection 
zones in the area 

c)  the geological and hydrogeological conditions in the area 
d)  the risk of flooding subsidence, landslides or avalanches on the 

site, 
e)  the protection of the nature of cultural patrimony in the area. 

 
Local Planning Policies 
 
Warwickshire Waste Core Strategy, Adopted Local Plan (2013 – 2028)  

 
5.22 The Warwickshire Waste Core Strategy contains policies specific to 

directing future waste development including general development 
management policies which apply to all development proposals on 
waste sites. The Council will take a positive approach that reflects the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development contained in the 
NPPF. 

 
5.23 Policy CS1 - Waste Management Capacity: states that the County 

Council will seek to ensure that there is sufficient waste management 
capacity provided to manage the equivalent of the waste arisings in 
Warwickshire and, as a minimum, achieve the County’s targets for 
recycling, composting, reuse and landfill diversion.  The Council will 
seek to meet identified capacity gaps for each waste stream where a 
shortfall is indicated.  Where it is demonstrated that there is no 
identified capacity gap, or where the capacity gap has been exceeded, 
then any planning application will be assessed against the Core 
Strategy policies and the principles of proximity and driving waste up 
the Waste Hierarchy. 

 
5.24 Policy CS5 – Proposals for reuse, recycling, waste 

transfer/storage and composting: states that proposals for reuse, 
recycling, waste transfer/storage and composting will be encouraged 
provided that the proposal accords with all other relevant policies. 
 

5.25 Policy CS7 – Proposals for disposal facilities: requires applicants to 
demonstrate that proposals for a waste facility will not prejudice the 
management of waste further up the waste hierarchy. 
Proposals for landfilling of waste or landraising, will not be acceptable 
unless it is demonstrated that: 
(i) the waste cannot be managed by alternative methods that are 

higher up the Waste Hierarchy; and 
(ii) there is an overriding need for waste to be disposed of through 

landfilling or landraising; and 

Page 28

Page 14 of 27



(iii) significant environmental benefits would result from the 
proposal; and 

(iv) it does not divert significant quantities of material away from the 
restoration of mineral workings or permitted landfill sites. 

Where any landfill or landraise proposals do not clearly meet all four 
criteria, the proposal will only be permitted if it is demonstrated that 
landfilling or landraising at that location will deliver overriding 
community or environmental benefits to justify granting planning 
permission. 

 
The supporting text of the policy states that in certain circumstances, 
materials can be used to landfill or landraise as part of an agricultural 
improvement scheme. These situations will need to be strictly 
controlled and monitored as such schemes can be used to avoid waste 
disposal costs. These instances can not only have a damaging impact 
on the local environment, but also prevent the adequate restoration of 
mineral extraction sites. Proposals seeking to landfill or landraise for 
agricultural improvement purposes will need to provide a detailed 
justification for the proposal, with adequate evidence that the site is in 
agricultural use, together with a full statement of the characteristics and 
conditions of the site, evidence of how the proposed method will 
improve the land, evidence that the materials used are soil improvers 
and a comprehensive restoration/improvement scheme is submitted. 
 

5.26 Policy DM1 – Protection and enhancement of the natural and built 
environment: states that new waste development should conserve 
and where possible enhance the natural and built environment by 
ensuring that there are no unacceptable adverse impacts upon: 
amongst other things: natural resources (including water, air and soil); 
biodiversity;  archaeology; heritage and cultural assets and their 
settings; the quality and character of landscape, adjacent land uses or 
occupiers.  
Proposals should also maintain or, where possible enhance biodiversity 
and recognised sites, species, habitats and heritage assets of sub-
regional or local importance. 
If it is considered that the development is justified against the above 
criteria, proposals will only be permitted where the adverse impacts will 
be: 
i) avoided;  
ii) satisfactorily mitigated (where it is demonstrated that adverse 

impacts have been avoided as far as possible); or  
iii) adequately compensated or offset as a last resort where any 

adverse impacts cannot be avoided or satisfactorily mitigated. 
 
5.27 Policy DM2 – Managing Health and Amenity Impacts of Waste 

Development: states that planning permission will not be granted for 
waste management proposals which have unacceptable adverse 
impacts on the local environment, economy or communities through 
any of the following: noise, lighting/illumination, visual intrusion, 
vibration, odour, dust, emissions, contamination, water quality, water 

Page 29

Page 15 of 27



quantity, road traffic, loss of best and most versatile agricultural land or 
land instability. Proposals will only be permitted where the adverse 
impacts will be avoided or satisfactorily mitigated where an adverse 
impact cannot be avoided or the adverse impacts have been avoided 
as far as possible. 

 
5.28 Policy DM3 - Sustainable Transportation: requires developers to 

demonstrate that where road is the only viable method of 
transportation, that there is no unacceptable adverse impact on the 
safety, capacity and use of the highway network. 

 
5.29 Policy DM6 – Flood Risk and Water Quality: states that planning 

permission will not be granted where waste management proposals 
would be at risk of flooding or would be likely to increase the risk of 
flooding elsewhere; or where waste management proposals would 
have a detrimental effect on water quality or achieving the targets of 
the Water Framework Directive. 

Rugby Borough Council Local Plan 2011 – 2031 (Adopted June 2019) 

5.30 Policy GP1 – Securing Sustainable Development: Planning 
applications that accord with the policies in the Local Plan (and, where 
relevant, with policies in Neighbourhood Plans) will be approved 
without delay unless material considerations indicate otherwise.   

 
5.31 Policy NE1: Protecting Designated Biodiversity and Geodiversity 

Assets: The Council will protect designated areas and species of 
international, national and local importance for biodiversity and 
geodiversity as set out below.  
Development will be expected to deliver a net gain in biodiversity and 
be in accordance with the mitigation hierarchy below. Planning 
permission will be refused if significant harm resulting from 
development affecting biodiversity cannot be:  
• Avoided, and where this is not possible;  
• Mitigated, and if it cannot be fully mitigated, as a last resort;  
• Compensated for. 
Sites of Local Importance: Development likely to result in the loss, 
deterioration, degradation or harm to habitats or species of local 
importance to biodiversity, geological or geomorphological 
conservation interests, either directly or indirectly, will not be permitted 
for Local Nature Reserves (LNRs); Local Wildlife Sites (LWS), Local 
Geological Sites (LGS), European and UK protected species, or 
Biodiversity Action Plan habitats unless: 

 The need for, and benefits of, the development in the proposed 
location outweighs the adverse effect on the relevant biodiversity 
interest. All Development proposals impacting on local wildlife sites 
will be expected to assess the site against the ‘Green Book’1 
criteria to determine the status of the site and to ascertain whether 
the development clearly outweighs the impacts on the site; 

Page 30

Page 16 of 27



 It can be demonstrated that it could not reasonably be located on 
an alternative site that would result in less or no harm to the 
biodiversity interest; and 

 Measures can be provided (and secured through planning 
conditions or legal agreements), according to the mitigation 
hierarchy as set out above. The level of protection and mitigation 
should be proportionate to the status of the habitat or species and 
its importance individually and as part of a wider network. 

 
5.32 Policy NE3: Landscape Protection and Enhancement: 

New development which positively contributes to landscape character 
will be permitted.  
Requirements of development proposals include that they relate well to 
local topography and built form and enhance key landscape features, 
ensuring their long term management and maintenance; aim to either 
conserve, enhance or restore important landscape features in 
accordance with the latest local and national guidance; address the 
importance of habitat biodiversity features, including aged and veteran 
trees, woodland and hedges and their contribution to landscape 
character, where possible enhancing and expanding these features 
through means such as buffering and reconnecting fragmented areas. 

 
5.33 Policy SDC3: Protecting and Enhancing the Historic Environment: 

Development affecting the significance of a designated or non-
designated heritage asset and its setting will be expected to preserve 
or enhance its significance. 

 
5.34 Policy SDC5: Flood Risk Management: A sequential approach to the 

location of suitable development will be undertaken by the Council 
based on the Environment Agency’s flood zones as shown on the latest 
Flood Map for Planning and Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA). 
This will steer new development to areas with the lowest probability of 
flooding, in order to minimise the flood risk to people and property and 
manage any residual risk. 

 
 Policy Considerations 
 
5.35 The aim of the proposed development is infilling and land-raising to re-

grade the application site to a more level profile in order to improve 
drainage and increase agricultural productivity. The key issues to be 
considered are: 

 

 Whether an adequate case has been made to demonstrate the 
need and justification for the proposed landraising; 

 Whether the development optimises the waste hierarchy; 

 Whether objections can be overcome by reasonable and 
enforceable planning conditions. 

 
5.36 The general aim of the policies of the Development Plan are to achieve 

high quality development that is sustainable in the long term. The aims 

Page 31

Page 17 of 27



of waste policies are to drive waste management up the waste 
hierarchy.  

 
5.37 The applicant has provided adequate evidence that the site is part of 

an agricultural unit and has been in agricultural use. The application 
site is believed to have been excavated for sand and gravel in the past 
with seemingly limited restoration, resulting in a parcel of land with a 
dished profile that the landowner describes as not particularly 
productive.  

  
5.38 In the context of Policy CS7 (Proposals for disposal facilities) of the 

Warwickshire Waste Core Strategy the proposed landraising is 
considered to accord with the aims of the policy by moving the topsoil 
recovered as waste from other development areas higher up the Waste 
Hierarchy than would be the case if it were taken to a landfill site.  

 
5.39 The restoration of levels and landraising following historic mineral 

extraction would provide the environmental benefits required by Policy 
CS7 by improving drainage to enable the field to be used more 
productively for agriculture. At the time of the Officer’s site visit, the 
field was predominantly grassland. Ground levels drop away over the 
site towards the drainage ditch along the northern boundary. The 
sloping nature of the site and the poor drainage and waterlogging has 
resulted in the land being unsuitable to grow crops and being left fallow 
for several years. The proposed application of certified topsoil in this 
location would re-grade the land, improve drainage and result in a 
restored parcel of land suited to a more productive agricultural use in 
accordance with policies of the Waste Core Strategy. 

 
5.40 Details submitted with the application provide cut and fill sections 

across the application site indicating the depth of the topsoil. In places 
the depth would be up to 7 metres in order to create the proposed level 
profile. A 1 in 3 slope would be formed along the northern edge of the 
levelled field, falling away to the drainage ditch running along the 
northern boundary.  

 
5.41 Concern has been expressed by Newton and Biggin Parish Council 

and Churchover Parish Council that the proposed depth of topsoil is 
excessive. First, as it could be a waste of a valuable resource and also 
that the extent of landraising is a function of the avoidance of landfill 
charges and landfill tax. At the meeting of the Newton & Biggin Parish 
Council on 28 January, attended by the Planning Officer, the applicant 
stated that as the owner of the land and as a working farmer he wants 
only clean topsoil on the site. It would not be to his advantage to use 
unsuitable material which could adversely affect the ability to farm the 
land. The use of topsoil in the volume proposed would achieve the 
required profile for the field.  

 
 
 

Page 32

Page 18 of 27



Source of infill material 
 

5.42 The material proposed to re-grade the application site would be inert 
screened soil (that is soil free of contamination by harmful substances 
or chemicals) derived from the local construction industry. The soil is 
currently stored at The Fisheries, an authorised site that processes and 
stores construction waste materials. The screened soil would be 
imported from the storage site at The Fisheries, less than 2 km to the 
south-east of the application site, via the A5 Watling Street and the 
northern end of Newton Lane. The applicant advises that topsoil 
imported to The Fisheries site has been tested by Environmental 
Scientific Groups Ltd who are certified by the United Kingdom 
Accreditation Service (UKAS). 

 
5.43 While the storage facility at The Fisheries is not the subject of the 

current planning application, the source of and the quality of the topsoil 
are material planning considerations. Comments and objections have 
been received from both Churchover Parish Council and Newton & 
Biggin Parish Council regarding The Fisheries. The Fisheries operates 
with planning consent, however the storage bund on that site exceeds 
the permitted height by several metres and is currently the subject of 
enforcement to resolve the matter. An enforcement notice served at 
The Fisheries site is currently subject of an appeal on the grounds that 
the enforcement period of 6 months is unreasonably short. Removal of 
excess material stored at The Fisheries site and its transfer to Coton 
Farm would have the benefit of aiding the resolution of the excessive 
height of the bund. It should be noted that possible breaches of 
planning control at The Fisheries would not be a reason for refusing 
permission at Coton Farm or imposing a condition preventing 
development until enforcement issues elsewhere have been resolved.  
The development proposed would not cause or aggravate any 
breaches of planning control. 
 
Amenity Issues 

 
5.44 The field on Coton Farm subject of the application is located within a 

predominantly rural location, with agricultural land to the west and 
south, woodland to the north and with agricultural land east, beyond 
Newton Lane which forms the eastern boundary of the site. The closest 
residential property is The Three Bridges (formerly The Homestead), 
located some 120 metres to the north-east of the proposed access to 
the field from Newton Lane. 

 
 Noise 
 
5.45 The initial works on the site to re-open the access into the field; create 

a hardsurface area for the site compound and the turning area within 
the site and the delivery of topsoil to the site would be sources of noise. 
Noise during the operation of vehicle movements across the site to 
disperse the deposited topsoil would be less significant. As an area of 

Page 33

Page 19 of 27



land within an agricultural holding the movement of farm vehicles on 
the field would be expected and the movement of a bulldozer would not 
be dissimilar to a tractor. The Construction Method Statement 
submitted with the application advises that no construction noise is 
anticipated at the site. However, a local resident has expressed 
concern that the increase in traffic, with HGV travelling along Newton 
Lane to and from the application site would result in noise pollution 
which would adversely impact their residential amenity.  

 
5.46 The Rugby Borough Council Environmental Health Officer (EHO) has 

raised no objection to the proposed development, although both EHO 
and Newton & Biggin Parish Council have recommended a condition to 
control reversing alarms on HGV working on the application site. A 
suitably worded condition is proposed (condition 21). 

 
Dust/Air Quality 

 
5.47 The transport of topsoil to the site and the placement, storage and 

working of the material would all be potential sources of dust. The 
Construction Method Statement submitted with the application outlines 
the measures to monitor and control the potential impacts of dust and 
debris on the local inhabitants and the local area. The measures would 
include the sheeting of vehicles travelling to and from the site; wetting 
down sub-formation surfaces and stockpiles to mitigate dust 
generation; the use of wheel wash facilities; regular inspections of the 
surrounding area for dust and mud deposits and their removal as 
necessary using a road sweeper. The Rugby Borough Council EHO 
assessed the Construction Management Statement and has no 
objection to the proposed development. Planning guidance advises 
that planning authorities should not concern themselves with the 
control of processes which are a matter for the pollution control 
authorities. Waste planning authorities should work on the assumption 
that the relevant pollution control regime will be properly applied and 
enforced. Notwithstanding this a condition is recommended to ensure 
that measures are taken to minimise the raising of dust (condition 18). 

 
Hours of operation 

 
5.48 The Construction Method Statement as submitted stated that working 

hours would be 07:00 to 18:00 Monday to Friday and 08:00 to 18:00 on 
selected Saturdays with no working on Sunday or Bank Holidays. 
Newton & Biggin Parish Council have requested a condition to control 
the hours of operation, suggesting Monday to Friday and not at all on 
Bank Holidays. The EHO recommended a condition to control the 
proposed development to the standard operating hours accepted by 
Rugby Borough Council, that is: Monday – Friday 7.30 a.m. – 6.00 p.m. 
Saturday 8.30 a.m. – 1.00 p.m. with no working on Sundays and Public 
Holidays. The Construction Method Statement was subsequently 
amended to accord with the Rugby Borough Council standard hours 

Page 34

Page 20 of 27



and a condition is recommended to ensure compliance with the hours 
of operation agreed (condition 23). 

 
  Environmental Issues 
 
5.49 The Planning Statement submitted with the application provides 

information on the Agricultural Land Classification in the vicinity of the 
site. Land to the west and south of the application site is Grade 2 ALC 
(very good), Grade 3 ALC (good to moderate) to the north and Grade 4 
ALC (poor) to the east. 

 
5.50 The landowner advises that the field subject of the application was in 

the past quarried for sand and gravel and the ground levels not 
subsequently restored. The field is not particularly productive and has 
been left fallow for several years due to not being able to grow crops as 
a result of waterlogging. The planning statement states that by 
importing screened soil the agricultural land would be improved to 
increase yield. In addition, the improvement to the drainage and the re-
graded ground levels through land-levelling and contouring would 
improve land quality. 

 
 Visual Impact 
 
5.51 The application site is a field forming part of the agricultural holding of 

Coton Farm. The field is visible from public view, being positioned 
adjacent to Newton Lane. Both the woodland to the north of the site 
and the existing hedgerow along the eastern boundary provide a visual 
screen. 

 
5.52 In the short-term, for the two years required to complete the re-grading 

operation, there would be an impact on the appearance of the area. An 
old field access onto Newton Lane at the north-eastern boundary of the 
site would be re-opened and widened to accommodate two passing 
HGV. The hedgerow bounding Newton Lane along the eastern length 
of the application site would be required to be reduced in height to 
ensure adequate sightlines would be achieved for the vehicular access. 
The application site would as a result be more easily seen from public 
viewpoints while the re-grading is undertaken. In the longer term, the 
field would be restored to an area of open agricultural land, available 
for cultivation and the hedgerow allowed to grow beyond the restricted 
height required for the sightlines. Therefore, the negative impact on the 
visual amenity of the area would be for a limited period of time. 

 
 Access & Highways  
 
5.53 Soil is proposed to be transferred to the application site from The 

Fisheries on the A5 Watling Street. The route for vehicles would travel 
north from The Fisheries via the A5/Watling Street, turning left into 
Newton Lane, then a right turn into the proposed access to the 
application site on the western side of Newton Lane. Vehicles leaving 

Page 35

Page 21 of 27



the site would turn left out of the site to return to The Fisheries via the 
A5. 

 
5.54 The application details state that a total of 136,410 tonnes of soil would 

be required to complete the re-grading operation. Using tipper vehicles 
with a capacity of 20 tonnes the operation would amount to a total of 
6,821 trips over a two-year period, with on average 13 deliveries per 
day or 26 2-way trips, working Monday to Friday.  

 
5.55 The A5 Watling Street is under the authority of Highways England. The 

road is a dual carriageway in the vicinity of The Fisheries and reduces 
to a single two-way carriageway some 800 m south of the junction with 
Newton Lane. Highways England raised no objection to the application 
subject to imposition of conditions. A condition is recommended to 
ensure no mud or debris is deposited on the highway. In addition, 
Highways England recommend the maintenance of a minimum visibility 
distance of 215 metres in both directions at the junction of the A5 with 
Newton Lane with vegetation cleared as required for the duration of the 
works. The suggested maintenance work on the highway verge would 
not be work that could be undertaken by the applicant and the 
suggested planning condition could not be enforced. An alternative pre-
commencement condition has been agreed with Highways England 
which would require evidence of a scheme of work agreed between the 
owner of the application site and Highways England to be submitted 
(condition 7). 

 
5.56 The Transport Statement supporting the application states that several 

access points onto the application site were considered at pre-
application stage, with the proposed access located in the north-
eastern corner of the field selected as the preferred option. An old field 
access exists at this location, with the remains of a field gate in the 
overgrown vegetation on the field edge.  

 
5.57 Newton Lane has a 7.5 tonne weight limit restriction (except for 

access) along the entire length. HGV vehicles would be able to access 
the application site but would not be permitted under that weight 
restriction to travel further south towards Newton. 

 
5.58 A local resident has raised objection to the level of traffic that would 

result from the proposed re-grading and the resulting vibration of their 
property, mud on the road, dust generated by truck movements and the 
visual impact. The Newton and Biggin Parish Council have raised 
concern that HGV should not travel through the village of Newton and 
recommend that a condition be imposed to prevent such routing. 

 
5.59 The County Highway Authority raised no objection to the proposed 

operation or to the access into the application site subject to conditions 
including a requirement for the provision of a turning area; a bound 
surface within the application site for a distance of 15 m from the public 
highway and for adequate sightlines. In order to provide the sightlines 

Page 36

Page 22 of 27



for the access it would be necessary to reduce the height of the field 
boundary hedge to comply with the required restriction of no structure, 
tree or shrub within the visibility splay over a height of 0.6 m. 

 
5.60 Both Highways England and Warwickshire County Council as the 

Highway Authority for Newton Lane require conditions to ensure there 
is no mud or debris on the respective highways. Suitably worded 
conditions are recommended (conditions 15 and 16). 

 
5.61 The application as submitted indicated the internal site road 

constructed of recycled hardcore / crushed concrete. Notwithstanding 
the details submitted it is recommended that the internal site road 
should be constructed of concrete or asphalt to ensure the haul road 
could be cleaned by a road sweeper and vehicles remain clean after 
the wheelwash (condition 10). 

  
 Ecology 
 
5.62 The application site is a field within an agricultural holding, currently 

fallow, surrounded by hedgerow to the south and east with a drainage 
ditch along the northern boundary with an area of mature woodland 
beyond. 

  
5.63 An Ecological Impact Assessment (EcIA) was submitted to support the 

application and includes a baseline survey of the ecological conditions 
of the site and surroundings and identified the ecological features that 
could be affected by the proposed landraising. The assessment 
identified the potential risk of damage to the River Avon Local Wildlife 
Site (LWS), including the ditch at the northern boundary of the site. To 
avoid potential pollution and run-off impacts the EcIA advises that 
development would be undertaken in accordance with the appropriate 
Environment Agency Pollution Prevention Guidance. Heras fencing 
would be erected to protect the drainage ditch from imported topsoils 
being accidentally deposited into the watercourse. A condition is 
recommended to ensure this guidance is adhered to.  

 
5.64 The Broadleaf woodland running alongside the northern boundary of 

the site is covered by a Tree Preservation Order. The boundary trees 
and hedges on the application site would be protected throughout the 
construction in accordance with BS5837:2112 - ‘Trees in relation to 
design, demolition and construction’ The County Ecologist 
recommends a planning condition for a root protection zone to protect 
the trees and hedgerows bounding the application site during the 
development (condition 24).   

 
5.65 The EcIA identified bats and badgers as potentially impacted by the 

proposed development. There is a derelict building/walls to the south of 
the application site, which is proposed to be retained, together with 
boundary trees which could provide for a bat roost. As the proposed 
infilling works are to the north of the building, the County Ecologist 

Page 37

Page 23 of 27



agreed that there would be little or no disturbance to the building/walls 
to impact a bat roost should one be present. However, if the plans 
change and the building/walls or boundary trees are to be removed 
then a bat survey would be required.  

 
5.66 In relation to badger, the County Ecologist recommends the avoidance 

and mitigation measures set out in the EcIA be part of the Construction 
and Ecological Management Plan (CEMP) including a pre-works 
updated Badger Survey. 
 

5.67 The application site is in the impact zone of Cave's Pit SSSI as a result 
Natural England were consulted. They considered that the proposed 
development would not damage or destroy the SSSI and raised no 
objection.   

 
5.68 At the request of the County Ecologist a Biodiversity Impact 

Assessment (BIA) was submitted which concluded that there would be 
no net biodiversity loss and a net increase in biodiversity could be 
achieved as a result of the set aside at the field margins to the north, 
south and east to compensate for removal of habitat as a result of the 
proposed development. A Landscape Ecological Management Plan 
(LEMP) condition is recommended to ensure the proposed provision is 
made. 

 
5.69 In relation to Great Crested Newts (GCN), the County Ecologist 

advised that there are records of GCN in the local area. There is a 
pond 245m to the west of the site proposed for regrading. As no newt 
habitat is to be removed as part of the proposed works, it is considered 
that the potential for newts to disperse from the pond via nearby 
hedgerows would not be impacted. However, as there is the potential 
for GCN to commute to the proposed site, the County Ecologist 
recommends that GCN mitigation should form part of the requirement 
to discharge a condition for a Construction Ecological Management 
Plan (CEMP) prior to the commencement of works. In addition, it is 
recommended that heras fencing is erected along the western 
boundary of the application site, signposted ‘Wildlife Area Keep Out’ to 
ensure the area is not entered during the development works. 

 
5.70 There are no proposals submitted for lighting on the application site 

during the development, however, as the hedgerow boundaries and 
trees are suitable for commuting, foraging and possibly roosting bats , 
it is recommended that works take place in daylight hours only, and if 
any artificial lighting is required it would be low level and directed away 
from important foraging habitats for protected species such as bats, 
and lighting will be part of a CEMP.  A condition is recommended that 
there should be no lighting on the site without approval (condition 25). 

 
5.71 Following careful consideration of all the ecological issues relating to 

the site, subject to the imposition of suitably worded conditions the 

Page 38

Page 24 of 27



development can be carried out in accordance with the requirements of 
the NPPF.  

 
 Heritage 
 
5.72 The application is supported by an Historic Environment Assessment. 

There is evidence of prehistoric activity in the area from the late 
Neolithic period, extending through into the Roman Period. The 
statutory monument of the Tripontium Roman settlement is located 350 
m to the south-east of the application site. However, quarrying and 
associated activity in the past has changed the profile of the application 
site, lowering the ground levels with the result that there is considered 
to be low potential for the survival of any as yet unknown heritage 
assets of archaeological significance on the site. 

 
5.73 The closest Listed building is the Grade II* Coton House a late 18th 

century house located 800 m to the south-west of the application site. 
The application site is not seen in the context of the Listed building and 
there is considered to be no material harm to heritage. 

 
5.74 The County Archaeologist stated that there were no archaeological 

comments to make on this application. 
 
 Flood Risk, Drainage & Water Quality 
 
5.75 The Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) submitted with the application 

details that the site is located within Flood Zone 1 where the risk of 
fluvial flooding is low. The site is underlain by slowly permeable, 
seasonally wet, loamy and clayey soil. The infiltration of the soils is 
likely to be low, as a result drainage is predominantly via overland flow, 
following the topography towards the watercourse along the northern 
boundary of the site. The site currently falls with an average gradient of 
1:26 which after regrading would be altered to a predominantly west to 
east fall of between 1:25 and 1:35 and a fall of 1:500 in a south to north 
direction. Along the north-west, northern and north-western boundaries 
the regraded land would tie back into existing ground levels with a 1:3 
embankment. 

 
5.76 The FRA advises that the proposed land re-grading would not 

decrease the permeability of the site as a result of the deposition of 
topsoil, since the existing clayey soils and underlying geology already 
have low permeability. Following regrading of the site, surface water 
would continue to shed overland towards the watercourse along the 
northern boundary. An interception ditch / swale is also proposed along 
the eastern boundary of the site, running south to north to intercept 
runoff from the site and direct the flow north to the watercourse along 
the northern edge of the site. The proposed swale which would 
comprise a grass bed, underlain by gravel fill and perforated pipe, 
would prevent runoff shedding onto Newton Lane. 

 

Page 39

Page 25 of 27



5.77 The Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) in their consultation response 
advised that the publicly available surface water flood risk map shows 
the land to the east of the application site to be at high risk of surface 
water flooding. Additional surface water drainage details were 
submitted, and the hydraulic modelling report was independently 
validated. The LLFA  stated no objection to the proposed scheme and 
accepted the additional details of the swale along the eastern side of 
the application site to ensure surface water from the re-graded site 
flows to the watercourse on the northern boundary to prevent 
discharge onto adjoining land. A condition is recommended to ensure 
the agreed surface water drainage is implemented as agreed (condition 
30). 

 
6. Conclusion 
 
6.1 It is understood that the application site is the location of historic sand 

and gravel extraction. The site appears to have been poorly restored or 
with little or no restoration on completion with the result that the land is 
of poor agricultural quality. The proposed re-grading of the site would 
alter the currently steeply sloping field to create a relatively flat finished 
surface level providing the benefit of a more productive use of the site 
for agriculture. The landraising and regrading would import inert topsoil, 
recycled on and currently in storage at The Fisheries site located less 
than 2 kilometres to the south-east. The proposed re-grading would 
take place over a two-year period. The proposed development is 
considered to accord with the requirements of policies CS7 and DM1 of 
the Warwickshire Waste Core Strategy and policy NE1 of the Rugby 
Local Plan, providing biodiversity gains by the provision of set aside 
areas on the field boundaries in addition to the increased agricultural 
productivity. 

 
6.2 The proposed operation would have an impact on the appearance of 

the local landscape for a temporary period until the importation and 
distribution of topsoil had been completed. The landscape would 
however be restored to a field in agricultural use bounded by 
hedgerow.  

 
6.3  The application site is located one and a half kilometres to the north of 

Newton village. The closest residential property is The Homestead, 100 
metres to the east of the proposed access to the site. The proposed 
operation has the potential to cause adverse environmental impacts as 
a result of vehicle movements, and noise and dust generated by the 
delivery and distribution of soils across the site. However, conditions 
recommended by statutory consultees and the controls that could be 
imposed would ensure that the impact of the development on 
residential amenity, on the built and natural environment would be 
controlled to an acceptable level. 

 

Page 40

Page 26 of 27



6.4  It is concluded that on balance the proposed development accords with 
the policies of the development plan and is recommended for approval 
subject to the recommended planning conditions. 

  
7. Supporting Documents 
 
7.1 Submitted Planning Application – Planning reference RBC/20CM014 
 
7.2 Appendix A – Map of site and location. 
 
7.3 Appendix B – Planning Conditions. 
 

 Name Contact Information 

Report Author Sally Panayi sallypanayi@warwickshire.gov.uk 
01926 41 2692 

Assistant Director for 
Environment Services 

Scott Tompkins scotttompkins@warwickshire.gov.uk 

Strategic Director for 
Communities 

Mark Ryder  

Portfolio Holder Cllr Wallace 
Redford 

 

 

Page 41

Page 27 of 27



This page is intentionally left blank



Warwickshire County Council
Shire Hall
Warwick, CV34 4SA
Telephone (01926 410410)
www.warwickshire.gov.uk

  Application No: RBC/20CM014
  Land off Newton Road, Shawell, Rugby, CV23 0EB
  Re-grading of agricultural land.

Regulatory Committee 06 July 2021
Scale 1:10000 Drawn by: SP Dept: Communities © Crown Copyright and database right 2018. Ordnance Survey 100019520.

M6

A5

P
age 43

P
age 1 of 1

P
age 1 of 1



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Appendix B 
 

Re-grading of agricultural land, at land off Newton 
Lane, Coton Park Farm, Rugby,  

Warwickshire, CV23 0TB 
 

RBC/20CM014 
 
Planning Conditions. 
 

1. The development hereby approved shall be commenced no later than 3 
years from the date of this permission.  

 
Reason: To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990. 

 
2. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with 

the planning application forms and the following plans and documents: 

 Location Plan – SHF.0135.002.PL.D.001, 

 Cut and Fill Exercise – SHF.0135.002 – 101 Issue P04, 

 Cut and Fill Sections – SHF.0135.002 – 102 Issue P01, 

 Planning statement Report No: SHF.0135.002 Final (version 2) 
prepared by Enzygo, 

 Transport Statement – prepared by Sustainable Development 
and Delivery, November 2020, 

 Construction Method Statement – SHF.0135.002.GE.R.001.B, 

 Ecological Impact Assessment – Land off Newton Lane, Rugby 
– SHF.0135.002.EC.R.001-Final-Rev A,  

 Historic Environment Assessment dated November 2020 
prepared by Heritage Archaeology 
 

and any other details or samples approved in accordance with the 
conditions attached to this permission, except to the extent that any 
modification is required or allowed by or pursuant to these conditions. 
 
Reason: In order to define the exact details of the planning application 
granted and to secure a satisfactory standard of development. 

 
3. No development shall be undertaken on site in connection with the 

development hereby approved unless the County Planning Authority has 
first been advised in writing of the date of commencement.  

 
Reason: In order to secure a timely completion of the works on the site to 
protect the amenities of the area and local residents. 

 

Page 45

Page 1 of 8Page 1 of 8



 

 

4. The development hereby permitted shall be undertaken and completed 
using inert soils solely imported from The Fisheries, Watling Street, Clifton 
upon Dunsmore, Rugby, CV23 0AJ.  

 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and the amenity of the area. 

 
5. The delivery of inert soils to the site and the distribution of those soils 

across the site shall cease no later than 2 years from the date of 
commencement.  

 
Reason: In order to secure a timely completion of the works and 
restoration of the site to protect the amenities of the area and local 
residents. 
 

6. All physical works associated with the removal of the site access and 
restoration of the site in accordance with drawing number SHF.0135.002-
101 Issue P04 shall be completed no later than 2 years from the date of 
commencement.  

 
Reason: In order to secure a timely restoration of the site. 

 
7. The development hereby permitted shall not commence until the owner of 

the site provides the County Planning Authority with proof that a scheme of 
work has been agreed with the highway authority for the A5 which 
provides for the maintenance of the visibility splay to a distance of 215 
metres in both directions at the A5 / Newton Lane junction, which shall be 
adhered to throughout the duration of the development. 

 
Reason: To ensure that the A5 continues to serve its purpose as part of a 
national system of routes for through traffic in accordance with Section 10 
(2) of the Highways Act 1980 by minimising disruption on the SRN 
resulting from the works and in the interests of road safety.  

 
8. No topsoil or other material to be used for the purpose of the development 

hereby permitted shall be delivered to the site at any time when any 
vegetation or other object within the visibility splay for a distance of 215 
metres in both directions at the A5 / Newton Lane junction exceeds 0.6 
metres in height.  

 
Reason: To ensure that the A5 continues to serve its purpose as part of a 
national system of routes for through traffic in accordance with Section 10 
(2) of the Highways Act 1980 by minimising disruption on the SRN 
resulting from the works and in the interests of road safety.  

 
9. The development shall not be commenced until the existing vehicular 

access to the site has been remodelled in general accordance with 
drawing number WA5236PD-001, Appendix B of Transport Statement 
WA5236PD Newton Lane, Rugby dated November 2020.  

 
Reason: In the interests of road safety. 

Page 46

Page 2 of 8



 

 

10. Notwithstanding the details submitted with the application, the 
development shall not be commenced until the details of the construction 
and maintenance of the internal access road between the entrance to the 
site and the wheel wash have been submitted to and approved in writing. 
The access road shall be maintained in accordance with the approved 
details until completion of the approved development.  

 
Reason: In the interests of road safety. 

 
11. The development shall not be commenced until visibility splays have been 

provided to the vehicular access to the site in accordance with drawing 
number WA5236PD-001, Appendix B of Transport Statement WA5236PD 
Newton Lane, Rugby dated November 2020. No structure, tree or shrub 
shall be erected, planted or retained within the splays exceeding, or likely 
to exceed at maturity, a height of 0.6 metres above the level of the public 
highway carriageway. 

 
Reason: In the interests of road safety. 

 
12. No more than 40 HGV movements (each entry or departure constituting 

one movement) shall take place per day during the operations permitted.  
 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and residential amenity 
 

13. The development shall not be commenced until a turning area has been 
provided within the site so as to enable Heavy Goods Vehicles to leave 
and re-enter the public highway in a forward gear.  

 
Reason: In the interests of road safety. 

 
14. The development hereby permitted shall not be commenced until full 

details of the wheel wash have been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the County Planning Authority. The approved wheel wash shall be 
retained on site and in good working order for the duration of the 
development.  

 
Reason: In order to protect the amenity of the area and nearby occupiers. 

 
15. No soil or deleterious material shall be deposited on the public highway by 

vehicles associated with the regrading works.  
 

Reason: In the interests of road safety; to ensure that the A5 continues to 
serve its purpose as part of a national system of routes for through traffic 
in accordance with Section 10(2) of the Highways Act 1980 by minimising 
disruption on the Statutory Road Network resulting from the works and to 
protect the amenity of the area. 

 
16. The internal access road between the wheel wash and the exit and the bell 

mouth shall be maintained in a clean condition at all times. In the event 
that material is inadvertently deposited on the 200-metre length of highway 

Page 47

Page 3 of 8



 

 

between the entrance to the site and the junction of Newton Lane with 
Watling Street / A5 it shall be removed immediately. 

 
Reason: In the interests of road safety and to protect the amenity of the 
area. 

 
17. All loaded lorries entering and leaving the site shall be sheeted or netted 

as appropriate.  
 

Reason: In order to protect the condition of the local highway network and 
in the interests of highway safety and the amenity of the area. 

 
18. In order to minimise the raising of dust the following steps shall be taken:  

 
a) All importation and movement of soils shall be carried out only 

when the prevailing conditions are such that dust will not be carried 
beyond the boundaries of the site; 

b) Dust suppression equipment such as road washers and water 
bowsers shall be available to use on site for the duration of the re-
grading operation.  

 
Reason: In order to protect the amenity of the area and the nearby 
residents. 

 
19. Except as may otherwise be agreed in writing by the County Planning 

Authority, the development shall take place only in compliance with 
Construction Method Statement SHF.0135.002.GE.R.001.B dated 
November 2020. 

 
Reason: In the interests of road safety and residential amenity. 

 
20. No Heavy goods vehicles associated with the development shall enter or 

exit the site unless via Newton Lane (C84) from its junction with the A5 
Watling Street, turning right when entering and left when exiting the site, 
and not through the village of Newton. Signage shall be erected at the site 
entrance and maintained in place for the duration of the development 
permitted by this planning permission, advising that drivers of HGVs 
exiting the site are to turn left only out of the site.  

 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and residential amenity. 

 
21. No vehicle or mobile plant used on site shall be operated unless they have 

been fitted with a broad band / white noise audible alarm or a non-audible 
reversing alarm system .  

 
Reason: To ensure that, when reversing vehicles and plant do not emit a 
warning noise that would have an adverse impact on residential amenity. 

 
22. Machinery and vehicles used on the site shall be maintained and silenced 

to comply with the best practicable standard.  

Page 48

Page 4 of 8



 

 

 
Reason: To protect the amenity of the area and the nearby residents. 

 
23. Except as may otherwise be agreed in writing by the County Planning 

Authority, work hereby permitted on site shall not occur outside the 
following hours: - 

 
Monday – Friday 7.30 a.m. – 6.00 p.m. 
Saturday 8.30 a.m. – 1.00 p.m. 
 
No such work shall take place on Sundays or on Bank or Public 
Holidays. 
 

Reason: in the interests of residential amenity and to ensure the details 
are acceptable to the County Planning Authority. 

 
24. The development hereby permitted shall not commence and nor shall any 

equipment, machinery or materials be brought onto the site until a 
scheme for the protection of all existing trees and hedges to be retained 
on site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the County 
Planning Authority and has been put in place. The scheme shall include 
details of the erection of stout protective fencing and be in accordance 
with British Standard BS5837:2012, Trees in Relation to design, 
demolition and construction. Nothing shall be stored or placed in those 
areas fenced in accordance with this condition and nor shall the ground 
levels be altered or any excavation take place without the prior consent in 
writing of the County Planning Authority. The approved scheme shall be 
kept in place until all parts of the development have been completed and 
all equipment, machinery and surplus materials have been removed. 

 
Reason: To protect trees and other features on site during construction. 

 
25. The development hereby permitted shall not commence until a 

Construction and Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the County Planning Authority. 
The agreed Plan shall thereafter be implemented in full.   

 
Reason: To ensure that protected species are not harmed by the 
development. (In discharging this condition the County Planning Authority 
expect to see details concerning a mitigation plan for great crested newts, 
erection of heras fencing and signage, lighting, pre-commencement 
checks for badger, breeding birds, reptiles and amphibians and 
appropriate working practices and safeguards for wildlife that are to be 
employed whilst works are taking place on site including covering of 
trenches and pipes overnight). 

 
26. The development hereby permitted shall not commence until a detailed 

Landscape and Ecological Management Plan (LEMP) has been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the County Planning Authority. The plan 
should include details of planting, re-planting including details of the re-

Page 49

Page 5 of 8



 

 

planting of the eastern boundary hedgerow on removal of the site access 
and maintenance of all new planting. Details of species used and sourcing 
of plants should be included. The agreed Plan shall thereafter be 
implemented in full. 

 
Reason: To ensure a net biodiversity gain in accordance with NPPF (The 
plan should also include details of habitat enhancement/creation 
measures and management including compensation for any biodiversity 
loss and creating field margins and enhancements along the river 
corridor, and for example native species planting, wildflower grassland 
creation, woodland and hedgerow creation/enhancement, and provision of 
habitat for protected and notable species (including location, number and 
type of bat and bird boxes, location of log piles)). 

 
27. The site is to be surveyed for the presence of badgers immediately before 

any development takes place. If evidence of badgers is found at this time, 
a full badger survey should then be carried out by a badger expert.  

 
Reason: To ensure appropriate measures are taken in relation to 
protected species. (The results of any badger survey, and 
recommendations made relating to this are to be kept confidential, and 
taken into account during development design and implementation. N.B. If 
evidence of badgers is found, Natural England should be consulted, as 
badgers and their setts are protected under the Protection of Badgers Act 
1992). 

 
28. The development hereby permitted shall not commence until a fenceline to 

create a buffer zone of at least 8 metres between the edge of the 
watercourse, (i.e. the top of the bank), and the development has been put 
in place to ensure that the Pollution Prevention Guidelines produced by 
the Environment Agency regarding prevention of pollution during working 
and operation are adhered to.  

  
Reason: To ensure that there is no contamination of the watercourse 
either during or after development; to minimise detrimental run-off; to 
ensure no net biodiversity loss in accordance with NPPF, ODPM Circular 
2005/06 and to comply with guidance within the Water Framework 
Directive. (The Environment Agency can provide further details if 
required).   

 
29. No floodlighting, security lighting or other external means of illumination of 

the site shall be provided, installed or operated on any part of the site, 
except in accordance with a detailed scheme (which shall provide for 
lighting that is low level, hooded and directional) which has been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the County Planning Authority. Any such 
scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details and 
retained until the regrading operation works are completed. On completion 
of regrading any lighting installed should be removed.  

 

Page 50

Page 6 of 8



 

 

Reason: In the interests of the amenity of the area and local residents 
and to protect the foraging habitat of protected species such as bats. 

 
30. The development hereby permitted shall be implemented and maintained 

in accordance with the approved surface water drainage details: 

 Flood Risk Assessment (ref. SHF.0135.002.HY.R.001.A) dated 
November 2020 

 Correspondence from D. Alstead (Enzygo) to J. Mahal (WCC), ref. 
SHF.135.002.HY.L.001 dated 23/03/2021 

 Correspondence from S. Panayi (WCC) to frmplanning (WCC) dated 
21/04/2021 

 Drawing SHF.0135.002 – 109 P02 ‘Proposed Surface Water Swale 
Section Details’  dated 19/04/2021 

 Hydraulic Model Review (ref. 21-0389 Rev P01) by BSP Consulting 

 Technical Note ‘Newton Lane, Newton – HEC RAS Modelling for 
Channel/Culvert Capacity Assessment’ ref. 
SHF.0135.002.HY.N.001.B 

Notes 
 
County Highway Authority: 
 
A. Condition numbers 9,10 and 11 require works to be carried out within the 

limits of the public highway. Before commencing such works the applicant / 
developer must enter into a Highway Works Agreement with the Highway 
Authority under the provisions of Section 184 of the Highways Act 1980. 
Application to enter into such an agreement should be made to the 
Planning & Development Group, Communities Group, Warwickshire 
County Council, Shire Hall, Warwick, CV34 4SX.  

 
In accordance with Traffic Management Act 2004 it is necessary for all 
works in the Highway to be noticed and carried out in accordance with the 
requirements of the New Roads and Streetworks Act 1991 and all relevant 
Codes of Practice. Before commencing any Highway works the applicant / 
developer must familiarise themselves with the notice requirements, failure 
to do so could lead to prosecution.  

 
Applications should be made to the Street Works Manager, Budbrooke 
Depot, Old Budbrooke Road, Warwick, CV35 7DP. For works lasting ten 
days or less ten days, notice will be required. For works lasting longer than 
10 days, three months notice will be required.  

 
B. Section 163 of the Highways Act 1980 requires that water will not be 

permitted to fall from the roof or any other part of premises adjoining the 
public highway upon persons using the highway, or surface water to flow – 
so far as is reasonably practicable – from premises onto or over the 
highway footway. The developer should, therefore, take all steps as may be 
reasonable to prevent water so falling or flowing. 

 
 
 

Page 51

Page 7 of 8



 

 

County Ecologist 
 
 
Reptile note:  
In view of the nearby reptile records and composition of the surrounding 
habitat, care should be taken when clearing the ground prior to development 
and storing materials on site. If any evidence of specially protected species 
such as adder, grass snake, slow worm or common lizard is found, work 
should stop while WCC Ecological Services (01926 418060) or Natural 
England is contacted. Section 9 (part1) of the Wildlife and Countryside act 
1981, makes it is an offence to intentionally or recklessly kill or injure adder, 
grass snake, slow worm or common lizard. 
 
Development Plan Policies Relevant to the Decision. 
 
Warwickshire Waste Core Strategy, Adopted Local Plan (2013 – 2028)  
 
Policy CS1: Waste Management Capacity 
Policy CS5: Proposals for reuse, recycling, waste transfer/storage and 
composting 
Policy CS7: Proposals for disposal facilities 
Policy DM1: Protection and enhancement of the natural and built environment  
Policy DM2: Managing Health and Amenity Impacts of Waste Development 
Policy DM3: Sustainable Transportation 
Policy DM6: Flood Risk and Water Quality 
 
Rugby Borough Council Local Plan 2011 – 2031 (Adopted June 2019) 
 
Policy GP1: Securing Sustainable Development  
Policy NE1: Protecting Designated Biodiversity and Geodiversity Assets 
Policy NE3: Landscape Protection and Enhancement 
Policy SDC3: Protecting and Enhancing the Historic Environment 
Policy SDC5: Flood Risk Management 
 
 
Compliance with the Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 
 
 
In considering this application the County Council has complied with 
paragraph 38 contained in the National Planning Policy Framework 2019.
 
 

Page 52

Page 8 of 8



Document is Restricted

Page 53

Page 1 of 10 Agenda Item 5
By virtue of paragraph(s) 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1(3) Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	2 Delegated Decisions
	3 Planning application RBC/20CM014 Proposed re-grading of agricultural land, Land off Newton Road, Shawell, Rugby, CV23 0EB.
	RBC20CM014 Coton Farm 1 to 10000 July 2021
	Appendix B

	5 Planning Enforcement Report

